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THE STREETS OF NEW BRUNSWICK.
by

John P. Walle

To arrive at the—developmént‘of the streets of New-

Brunswick it is necessary to hark bagk to Colonial days when

¥

its only highways were rough trails through the swamps and
forests of the old indian paths which ran over what are now

Burnet, Albany and French -streets; and the old line of Water

street or the River road. Burnet street, being along the water

S

front, was the natural point from which the streets, through

he common course of usage, were opened.
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In the early minutes of common Council the streets are

referred to as "the road running' from the house of a certain

owner to that of another and " there to end.¥ No name is

o
&

riven to designate'the street. -

Burnet streét ig mentioned in é deed from Enocech Freeland
to Thomas Leonard dated June 22, 1726. (Lib; 2 of Deeds 245 )
This strest is referred in many entries in the old récords as

the Main street or Broad street. It was the one street that
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ran from the old ferry to the dock at the end of the town. It

Was o?ened from‘the foot of Sonomons hill to Westons Mills in

1810. It was named in honor of Willlem Burnet, Governor of

East and West Jersey from 1720 to 1727. He died September 7, 1729.
/On March 6, 1731 an ordinance waé pasged for repairing the

road and bridges through Burnet street and reads:

Be itt ordained by the Mayor Recorder
Alderman aend assistants in common Council,
Convened and by the Authority of the same
itts ordained that the great Road or Street
with Bridges thereon leading from Paul Millers




to William Peacocks house and so on southwest
to Georges Road be made and repaired by the
inhabitants of the said City who shall be
summoned to Work on the Same by the overseer
of Highways and in case of Neglect or refusal
shall forfeit three Shills for each neglect

to be levied on goods & Chattels of Delinguent
with Costs of Sult for the use of the City and
every team with cart or waggon and a man to
manage the same which the sald overseer shall
occasion to employ shall be esteemed in the
place of three Days labour of one workingman
and in case of refusdl shall forfeit nine
shills for ye use of the City to be levied

as abovesaid.”
This is the first reference in Council Minutes in regard

ﬁo the care of the streété.

The first street mentioned by Name in the old Council
liinutes is FPeace street, which was laid out by an ordinance of

4 : R
Common Council passed May 20, 1741, "Beginning Near ye house of

Nicholes Van Dyck thence along Van Cleaves & Garret De Graws
& from thence %o Frenéh=$treet as 1t was defined and laid out
by Mr. P. Phillip French and by him @lledPeace street.f

In this resolution is found the. first mention of French
: —
street, which was named for Philip French; a leading citizen
of the early time. He owned much land in
the first settled area of the city. He was
devoted to every interest of the town, He gave
the land for the Dutch Reformed Church and the
land for the Protestant Episcopal Church. He
was an original trustee of GQueens College. In
~ the Bevolutionary War he was a Loyalist and
His property was confiscated. His home was just
north of French or Albany street where George
street now crosses Washington. ‘
Governor William Livingston married his daughter.

When the name was éhanged from French to Albany is not
definitely known. On Frenche's Patent of Hannings Survey, 1790,
the earliest known map of New Brunswick, the name appears as
tAlbany or French»street.“ The Name French ﬁisappears‘after
1855 and Albany takes its:plage as far as.Easth avenue, from

there out to the Mile Run Brook the old Kame of French has
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been retained,The name Albany is said to be given in honor of
a band of early settlers who migrated from A;bagy,‘N;Y. and
settled in that section of New Brunswick, Albany street, from
French to Hamilton, is shown on the map of 1829 as Franklin

Turnpike.
| The next streef of which a positive date is known as to
when it Waé laid out 1s New»street, whieh was in reality, the
fifsf step looking toWardAthe development of the town above
Neilson street. It was opened from'Burnet street to Livingston
avenue in 1760, end from thete to French street in 1795. At
the same time’a road LR opened from the New street and called
Drift lane, because 1t was to Eake’the drift of travel from
the New Road. That part of New street known as Carroll Place
has its name from Dr. Edward Carrbll; who came from Jamaica,'
who lived in Neﬁ Brﬁnswick:in this street from 1829 until his
death in 1840. | S |

Drift lane was made wider in 1872 and the name changed
to Drift street.

Richmond street was originally known as Court street,

as the first Court house was built at the southwest corner of
Burnet street in 1741. The street was officially opened in
§Z§§,'from Burnet to GQueen street, and named Hichmoﬁd in honor
of Captain James Richmond, a noted merchant and shipper and
alsclowner of a lérge tractrof land in that neighbofhood known
as Richmonds lMeadows. On ﬁay 28, 1830 a petition was presented‘
to Common Council complaining that the Meadows were a nulsance,
as the c¢ity pound for pigs and other animals;was located on
Richmond street.

i

Richmond lived at the cornmer of Burnet and Richmond




streets, in the building, in later years known as Macom's Hotel.

= 3§§§rson Street, first called Barracks étreef because

the colonial barracks was there, was opened from Queen (NeilSon)
to George streetb. 1@\%785 and from George to French street in
1810. 1t bears the name of Willlam Paterson , perhaps the most -
distinguished in the long list of New Brunswick in the field

of political and national affairs. He Was born in Ireland about
1745 and 1ived in New: Brunswick from 1783 until 1806.amd His
ﬁost diétinguishéd work was during this regidence., Hlis home was
in Burnet street, at what ié now Gommefce Sguare, the- corner now
called Paterson Block. The Paterson family coming t§ this country,
from Ireland first settling in Trenton, soon made its home at
Urinceton. William Paterson graduated there with highest honors
and stuéiesélaw w1th Richard Stoc kton, After servlng the
Provincial Congress  in the- New Jersey‘Constltutlonal Convention,
.in the Continental Congress, and as Attorney General, he settled
 in New Brunswick To practicé 1aw. Thereafter he was Senator of
the United States, and Governor of New Jersey: theﬁ@ 1793 until
his aeath in 1806, he was Justice of the Supfeme Court of the
United Sﬁates. His most important service to the nation was, per-
haps7his participation’in thé Convention for the framing of the
Conétitution of the United States in 1787, his representing of
the state'SOVGTeignty idea which with thé natien centrality idea

of James Nadison composed the national system then adopted. He

was very active in all city life and affairs.
The city of Paterson, New Jersey WaS'named in his honor,

Wellson street was,until after the Revolutlon, the last

street “w1tn1n the llpe of houses' and above it was more or less

P \.u ‘:_;fﬂ
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a pine forest, the lost vestige of which Stood cn the block,
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between Guilden

a4

nd Easton avenue, to about one hundred feet

i

t was in 1785 that the first real effort to

o

of Mine street;
establish aﬂstreet»system was unaeruaken, Nelloon straet was

opened offioially to New street in 1785 and from Commercial

L

avenue to Oliver . street in 1857 and from New to Cliver about

.
-

1870. That part of it known as King street had foot walks laild
in 1797. The grade caused the water tq IlOW into “Frencn street,
causing great trouplé-for’all sort of travell 50 fhey were
ordered to be taken ﬁp;and in 18@1 relaid to a new grade level,
In early days-this street bofe»two names. North of Albany
(French) 1t was called King street and south of Albany it was
Queen street. When British rule was cast off it was thought
thet everything connected with 1t should take the same course,

so on January 21, 1828 a petition asking for a change of street

names was presented to Common Council, no action was taken.

On March 12, 1830 Coungil wes again asked to change the names
of Xing and Gueen streets to Columbia, or some other namee.

At the meeting of Common Council held March 26, 1830,
King and Queen streets was changed to Neilson in honor of the

Neilson family and Prince street to Bayard in honor of John

-Bayarde.

Dennis street was opened from«Church to Richmond street

PR, S

in 1804, and named for John Dennis, through whose land it was

opened. Dennis was & merchant and notéd patriot{ He was
chairman of the Commitéee of Safety aﬁd it was, without doubt,
into his hands that the beclaratisn of Endependence was de=
livered by the rider who brought 1t to town, his instructions
being to give it to the Chairman of the Commlttee of Safety,

and to no other person, Dgnnis lived on (Eittle) Burnet street




and suffered heavy iOSS@S durlng the occupation of the 01ty

by the Britishe.

Hiram street from Burnet to Dennis was, in early days,
8 narrow passage Way and remained so until 1872, when it was
made its presént Width@That pért'from Dennis to Neilson was
Karket was bullt in lSlé, land was purqhased at both sides of

the street, from NéilSon'tb‘Dennis, making a square which was

known as Market sqﬁare.
The name was spelled-Hyrﬂam untll about 1824,

Ceorre street in its earllest days ran from Albany

_.»,,../.-N Em— [ ——
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to leingston avenue, In 1809 it was opened from ﬁloany to

b i 55

Somerset through the lands of Phillip French whose houge stood

it i

at what is now the c¢rossing of CGeorge and Washington streets

et S

and was razed shortly before the street was cut through, it
wag officially opened fromyCommercial avenue to New street in

180&. and what was known as the “Barrow Dart“ Irom ﬁew to

u*berty, was opened in 1824. The bUlldln& on the soubh gide

Wés moved back so that the block swas made an even width, it

be eing originally fourty feet from Liberty to Schureman. and

sixty feet at New. The street was named for George Dralke ,
overseer of the rogd and also of Georges road which entered
from Livingston avenue at Suydam snd from there in a diagonal
line to Hale street where it crossed at Lee avenue'and continued
on the same line across Hemsen avenue to near Powers street,

making a round turn into Sanford street and continued out to

Commercial avenue in its present line across the Mile Run

g

Brook at the city limits. George street was opened from

Somerset street to the Lending bridge at the opening of the.




Delaware and Raritan canal and appears on ﬁhe map of 1836 as

Stockton avenue, in honor Colonel Richard ¥, Stockton, one of
primé factors in the establishmentxof the railroad and canal.
The name of Stockton was discontinued and as a matter of con-—

venience, George street was adopted for the entire length of the

street.

fg

Hamilton street was named for Colonel Alexander Hamilton,
of natlonal fame, He was in command of a battery, on what is
now bemlpary place, ‘when the Brltlsh entered New Brunswick in
November 1776. It was here that General Washington and Hamilton
met for the first time. His son, Colonel QTexanaer Hamilton, was
‘a TGSldentNOL New I runsw1ck for 'a number of yﬁars, His wife died
a%& was buried from the residence of General Mackintosh on
Kirkpatrick street. Later he lived at the City Hotel, then re-
moved to New York whe?e he died, at 88 Clinton Place, on August
'“l, 1875. He was buried in Christ church cemetery New Brunswick on
August 4, I875. He was born in New York Ha ay 16, 1786 and served
in the war of 1812, as General in oommand of the old Sandy Hook
forte
That part of the clty’lrom Hamilton street to Loilew
“
\venue, up the avenue to the Mlle Run brook and down (George
treet tglmeet at the point of beginning, was laid out into streets
hen the Delawaré and Raritan canal was opened in 1834, The road
rom the Landing lane to Somerset street, and now known as Ge orge
street, was named Stockton avenue in honor of General Robert F
Stockton, at the same time what is now Rutgers campus and
Buecleuch park was laid out into streets and avenues, the avenues

commenclno at Hamilton street and endlna when they resached Stockton

avenue ( George street) The one next to otockton was called Raritan




thevnext Delaware and the following one College avenues The
oross”streets were named Seminary Place, Morrell, Senior, Stone
and-Huntington streets., These streets were never opened over
this tract with %ﬁe excéption of Stone street, which was T'e-
named ulshop Place, The named street: through Buocleuoh Park
were Baltimore, “peaumont, Franklin, Staron and Grove streeté,
which were never opened. A street Was‘laid out through the
campus, from zamllton To gemlnary Place and called Bleecker Place
1A ¢
in honor of a branch of the Neilson faﬂllv. In lé%ei Fears the
roadway wWas closed and bécame part of the Campus lawn.
'Lafayétte Street, named in h@nér of ceneral Lafayette,

was 1laid out at the same time and later become the last clty

-

street and.line for Buccleuch parke
,Centrél Avenue was at one £ime known as Parker Avenue@
Water Sﬁrset came bj its’namé'frqm the fact that it was
river front, 1t was 2 part of the O?iginal*rhrhet street, at

the river north of ¥rench or Albany street. On 1t were,as time

went on, the homes of Colonel John TayloT, later Andrew

Kirkpatrickis,vRev. Tra Condict, Je¢ Re Hardenberg, Jr., and Dre
John Cochri@ne, it ran along thev“1vef until the caﬁal was bullt,
when it was closed gnd used for the canal bed above Hamilton
treet, 1t was also Gdescribed as the road to the Tending.
Abeel Street, bears the neme of a family of distinctions.
James Abeel born in Albany in 1733, lived in New Brumswick,

and died in 1825. He marr 1ed = daughter of Dr. John Neilson. He

was captain and then Major in the American army in the Revolution.

QJ

This street was oOpeh 1 through the Abeel property in 1837

TLivingsbon Avenue. An outlet from George street and

Cz

established as a turnpike 1in 1804, it was glven its present nameé
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A 1869 in honor of the Rev. Dr. John.H. Livingston who had
lived in the house torn down to make placé for the Liﬁingstbn
Apartments; He was of the Livingston family so very distinguished
in the history of New York and New Jersey and in thelearly 1life
of the ﬁeW'nation,.He Waé‘educated at Yale and at Utrechts, He
became minister of the Collegiate Dutch Reformed Church in
New York City aﬁd‘a leader in the reiigious 1if§ of the nation.

o _
He came to New Brunswick in_lBlO'as'President of Queens College,
bringing to the city at the same time the Theological Seminary,
the Bldest in the éountry, @e lived in Albany street at firét,
in the house known as the Leupp house. Soén he bought the house
on the pfesent Livingston avenue with its Ffarm of over sixty acres
'and‘he lived there until his death in 1825, His portrait was
baintedvby Gilbert Stuart, At his grave in the yard of the First
Reformed Church a memorial stone was erected by the Genmeral Synod
of the denomination. -

Hardenberg street,bears the name of an old New Brunswick
familys. The Rev. Dr. Jacob Rutsen Hardenberg came to New Brunswick
in 1784 as President of Gueens College and miniéter of the old
Duteh Reformed Church . He had been asgociated with the 1life of
the eity in religious educational and political affairs for years
before that. He had been forward in the founding of Queens College
end 1ts acting président from the start. He died in New Brunswick
in 1790;

Suydém Street. This represeﬁts by its name and locality a
development of new city area which began in 1836. It bears the name
of Abraham Suydam who was especlally conoerqed in the development
and who was a highly respected aﬁd influéntial citizen whosgse family

name was here from early days. The murder of lr, Suydam in 1840.
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by- Peter Robinson who was indebted to hiﬁ is one of the en=~
duringly remembered events in the record of the city. Abraham

e Suydam With James Lorimer Graham made surveys of area at the
-edge of the occupled city and prepared a map of 1t with actual
and proposed streets Whlch is a chlef and constantly quoted
authority still in the New Brunswick land transactions. They
secured man§ investors in this landdléid out in lots, and in
certain seqtionérhouses in good number were soon erected. The
names of s§me of these»investofs interested in the development,

not residents of New Brumswick, generally residents of New York,

were glven the newly laild out streets=--~Codwise, Redmond, R@msen,

Throop, Comstock, Hale, rlandy).belevan, Ba7aW1n, Sanford, Welton,
“Powers, Townsend, Talmadge, and other streets in this development

and have no local association as far as HNames are concernede

i rkpatrlck Streete was named for Andrew Klrkpatvlck i
born in 1756 and graduaued at Princeton in 17/5 He took charge

of the GQueens College Grammar S5chool, and studieg law under m

William Paterson. He became a Justioe,of the Supreme Court of
New Jefsiy in 1798, serving for six years. He then became Chief
Justice of the Supréﬁe Court; holding that office for twenty-
one yearé‘

He wags a Trustee of Rutgers College and of Princeton

Theolozical Seminary. He married a daughter of Colonel John
<2 L]

Bay&rd ®

In 1809 leerty street was cut through the Dutch

burying “round and in resenumont for the same it was generally

-

refered to as t‘Resurrection street“ on account of disturbing

“the graves of the dead.
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'Schureman Street was named for the‘Schufeman family
who 1ived and conducted a store on south west corner of
Burnet and butch church streets, so called on account of
the Dﬁtch'ghuychrbeing on it. The name was changed to
Schureman in:ﬁghor of John Schureman, who died July 6, 1795.
He Waé a mem%ér of'the Legislature, of the Provincial Congreés,
Committee of'Safetj, Judgeg Treasureg'Of Gueen's College and.
Mayor, or President of Council, 1790-93. He was the father
of James'Schuremaﬁ,'ﬁoted scholar; soldier, patriot and Mayor
of New-Brunswick; 16801-13,, 1821-24. He died Jaruary 22,

1824, This street Was opened from Neilson to George and later
.to Livingston streét by Miss Ellis through whose land 1t was
opened. ‘

East@n Aven@e, from Albany street to Hamilton, 1s
named in all of the esrly map:of the city Sf Wiagara street,

so called on aceount of its rough and rock surface which, in

I

rainy weather, gave 1t the appearance of Niagara Falls. The

name of Easton avenue was given when the Easton Turnpike wa

laid oute.

R . ,

Church Street was among bthe first of the old passage-
Wayse It was given officialvrecognition ag White Sﬁréet in
1792 in honor of Ceneral Anthony Walton White, of the
Hevolutionary éfmy. The name did not get public recognition
and continued to be known as Church street from the fact
that it ledd to the church on Neilson street.

Carman Street was opened in 1837 and named for

Pjenis‘Garman one of the‘organizers of the Bank of New
RBrunswick in 1810. Hassart street Was‘bpaned in 1831 at 40-

el
o

feet and mede 10 feet wider in 1837, it was named for




Aaroﬁ Hassaru, an exten31ve land owner at that time, Morris
street was opened from John to George street and extended from
there to iivinaston avenue in 1853, and was named_for Hone
Robert morrls o noted legal leader of his day.

The Alley from Peace to Little Buriet street was a \
public passa@e from 1747, ln 1BOo it was made a public alley
at 10 feet 4 1nohes and called Peace Alley on the map of 1829.
Commercial avenueffrom Burnet to George sbreet in 1806 and -
called Town Lane. Lhe Alley from Bayard to Patersop, back of
the Dutch church graveyard, was opened in 1785, at 15 feet
and named Church alley, égé alley ‘between this and George strecst
was opened about the same timé, and on the corner was bullt
y the first Roman Catholic church in 1830. Cenfral Wharf or what
was later lmown as Richmonds alley, below -Richmond street, from
Burnet:to uhe rlver, wa.s opened in 1812. Bishop street was
named for the Elshop family, as was Bishop Place, when LaVId

i

here. John street 1n 181ov

r

, Brewer street, Oliver

and Tames Bishop built their homes
end extended in 1837, was alsc cali
kstreet» onened in 18375 Somerset street in 1820, It is
shovm ofi Mannings survey cf 1790, as a 'new stfeeb & road to
be laid out to ye Mile Run.' |

y Freeman and WOodbridge streets were named in honor of
the family of Dr. Samuel Woodbridge; Hartwellyfor the family
of Judge Woodbridge Strong. Wall street opené& in 1903, when
the railroad tracks Werekelevated, and” named for John P. Wall.
Scptt street was so named for Dr. Warren Scott of Revolution=-
ary days; Plum stréet;in honor of John Plum, one of the most
active citizen of the early tilmes, énd very active in city

7

politics from before the Revolution until after the war of
b pi - : , 01
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The streets in Lincoln Garden were named, as a rule
for noted personage of the World War in 1917-18. This was
: #5
a United States War emergency housing project.| Wellington,
Edgeworth, Stratford. Llewellyn and Stratford Place were
names given to parts of Lawrence, Ward Talmadge and Howard

streets when those blocks were developed. The streets above

this section were laid out and opened in 1908,
«
High Street, so named as 1t is about on the highest

elevation in the city.

¥ine Street, so named because it runs through the

ground of the old copper mine of Colonial times.

Elm Row was opened Ifrom Paterson to Bayard street when

the court house was built in 1841,
!
Schuyler Street was named for Abraham Schuyler who was

President of Council, or HMayor, 1796-1801 and at one time

i

Sheriff of Middlesex County. He was a noted man of Revolutione

ary times.

Guilden Str was one of the early streets laid out
in the upper part of the city. It was openéd to Mine street
and in 1871 from there to Hamiiton street. It was named for
the Revérend John C. Guilden WhO'Was the pastor of the church

in New York City from which came a group of German Tamilies

to locate in this part of the city and who mainitained there

w

Tor many years the Third Reformed Church.
The original name was Jane street and appears as such
in early maps.

 The name of Unlon street was first given to Spring Alley

but was not used as the old Barracké spring ran through it and




formed é brook knoﬁn as Barrack spring broock which ran between
Albany'ahd Chufch streets, and emptied into the river near the
Albanj'street bridge. The next street of the name is shown
runningndirect from Jane (now Guiiden) to the Mile Run brook
at Hamilton street, This washfollowed by the_present Union
street from lMine to Aamilton.

Central Avenue was originaliy called Parker avenue and
eppears as such on the ma.p of 1829. d%her streets appearing on
this map as_running frém Easton a%enue? above BfistolAstreét,
to the Mile Run brook, were Hmmet, Jenkins, Haven, Cambridge and
De Witt, They were never opened.

The total mileage in 1940 was sixtythree of which

Laad

fiftyone were paved. The ;paved ones being; short streets in

9 :
new development in the outer limits of the city.

This is a complete-history of the streets of New Brunswick

‘as shown by the earliest available records to 1940.

Residents on each street.
. The number of persons’ dwelling in each.of the city

streets as shown by the police census of 1919 was as follows:

- Burnet 953, Neilson 850; Somerset 798, George 773,

Easton Ave. 771, French 701, RNew 685, Albany 666, Suydam 527,

Bayard 512, Church 495, Seaman 492, Throop Ave.476, Remsen Ave.,
475, Townsend 450, Hamilton 445, Commsrcisl ave., 423, Handy 410,
Baldwin 380, Redmond 379, Schureman 362, John 358; Livingston
avenue 520, Paterson 296, Comstock 278, Welton 231, Codwise Ave.
226, Hassart 210, Guiiden 21-, Lea Avenue 209, Hale 200,
Railrbad ave., 198, Coilege ave.l1l97, Division 191. Richmond 185,

sanford, 182, Washington 182, Delevan 181, Courtlandt 35,C1lifton

avenue 34, Duke 32, High 32, (eorges Road 29, Jones ave 28,




Howard éV,»Bishop Place 25, Schuyler 24, Bethany 28, Bleccker
Place 23, Riverside ave. 23, Scott 25, Spring 22, City Alley 20,
Lending Road 19, Lawrence 16, Nichol ave. 18, waers’le, Jersey
ave 168, Stone 164, Morris 154, Hivem 145, Delafield 142, Dennis
142, Plwa 137, Blshop 134, Gentral ave 132, Prosper 127, Lewis
125, oliver 120, Bartlett 119, iine 107, Prospect 104, James 100,
"Sicard 98} Abeel 97, Hardenberg 97, Wyékoff/95, Richardson 94,
Drift 92, Carmen 96;:Seﬁinafy place 89, Morrell 84, LRobinson 84,
Palmadge 82, Hartwell 77, Union 75, Peace 71, Huntington é?,Gondit
65, Alexander 50, Liberty 48, Kirkpatrick 47, Ray 45, Senior 43,
Water 43, Catharine 39, Harvey 59, Brown 38, Gollége Farm 14,
outlet Lock 15, Steamboat Dock 13, Fulton 11, Landing lane 11,

v - - - .
. Elm Row 10, Ward 9, Little Burnet 7, Wert 7, Schnelder alley &,

01lLd Road 3.
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